IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA  
Cause No. DA 25-0149

LINDSAY BURNS BARBIER, individually, and on behalf of the H.W. BURNS FAMILY, LLC; S.B.; and B.B.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

CAMERON H. BURNS; and H.W. BURNS FAMILY, LLC, a nominal Defendant,  
Defendants and Appellees.

---

H.W. BURNS FAMILY, LLC,

Counterclaim Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

LINDSAY BURNS BARBIER; S.B.; and B.B.,

Counterclaim Defendants and Appellants.

---

**On Appeal from the Montana Sixth Judicial District Court,  
Sweet Grass County, Cause No. DV 21-49  
Hon. Brenda R. Gilbert**

---

**APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

---

**APPEARANCES:**

Stephanie Baucus  
Jordan W. FitzGerald

**A. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

I. Did the District Court correctly grant summary judgment in favor of Appellees Cameron H. Burns and the H.W. Burns Family, LLC regarding the interpretation of the LLC’s Operating Agreement and the conversion of the LLC to a perpetual company?

II. Did the District Court properly require Plaintiffs to join the LLC, already a derivative Plaintiff, as a named defendant?

III. Was it proper for the District Court to order Plaintiffs to pay both professional and attorney fees for the deposition of Kim Bennett, a non-party identified as a potential hybrid fact/expert witness in this matter?

**B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arose from a dispute between the current members of the H.W. Burns Family, LLC (the “LLC” or “Company”) over the proper term duration of the family-owned LLC, which owns and operates a ranch outside of Big Timber.

Plaintiffs Lindsay Burns Barbier (“Lindsay”) (who filed claims individually and on behalf of the LLC); her minor child B.B.; and her adult child Solange Barbier (collectively, “Appellants,” “Plaintiffs,” or the “Barbiers”) maintain that the LLC, which was created in 1994 for estate planning and tax purposes to protect the Ranch, is a term company that was to dissolve in 2024, while Lindsay’s brother, Cameron

H. Burns (“Cameron”)—currently the only other member and now 70.19% owner of the LLC—argues that the LLC is a perpetual company.

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint against Cameron in Montana’s Sixth Judicial District Court, Sweet Grass County, to enforce the terms of the LLC’s Operating Agreement, requesting a declaratory judgment, claiming breach of contract, and seeking specific performance in December 2021 (Dist. Ct. Docket No. (“Doc.”) 1.) Plaintiffs filed these claims while Lindsay and Cameron were also involved in probate litigation over their father Horatio W. Burns’ (“Horatio’s”) estate, which included, as its main asset, Horatio’s shares of the LLC. *See generally* Sup. Ct. Cause No. DA 22-0456.

After Cameron filed a partial motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ derivative claims in January 2022 (Doc. 7), which the District Court denied in April 2022 (Doc. 16), Cameron filed his Answer in April 2022 (Doc. 17). The District Court set its Scheduling Order in May 2022, including July 22, 2022, as the deadline for Parties to amend claims or join parties. (Doc. 19.)

Over a year after the case had been filed and over six months after the joinder deadline had passed, on December 30, 2022, Cameron filed a motion to join the LLC as a defendant (Docs. 22-23). Plaintiffs filed their opposition brief in January 2023 (Doc. 24), to which Cameron replied on February 13, 2023. Doc. 27. One day later, on February 14, 2023, the District Court granted Cameron’s motion, requiring

Plaintiffs to name the LLC as a defendant. Appellants' Appendix ("Appx.") Ex. G (Doc. 28).

Pursuant to that Order, Lindsay filed an amended complaint in March 2023 (Doc. 29), to which Cameron and the LLC responded (*see* Docs. 36, 39) with the LLC asserting a counterclaim for declaratory judgment, which Plaintiffs answered in May 2023. (Doc. 40.)

After the Parties engaged in discovery, including exchanging expert disclosures relating to the valuation of Plaintiffs' minority shares if the LLC were a perpetual company compared to the value of Plaintiffs' interests if the LLC dissolved in 2024, which Plaintiffs' expert found were several million dollars apart, the Parties filed several cross motions for summary judgment.

On June 28, 2024, Defendant LLC filed a motion for partial summary (Doc. 60), arguing that the LLC's Operating Agreement can be amended by a vote of 67% or more of the membership interests of the LLC. Cameron joined that motion (Doc. 64), which Plaintiffs opposed in a filing on July 19, 2024 (Doc. 75).

Second, in a motion covering related issues, Cameron filed a motion for summary judgment arguing that the LLC was a perpetual company (Docs. 70-71), which Defendant LLC joined (Doc. 72), and which Plaintiffs opposed (Doc. 87).

Third, Plaintiffs filed their own motion for summary judgment (Docs. 73-74), which Cameron and Defendant LLC separately opposed (Docs. 77 and 84).

After the Parties filed all replies, after its September 24, 2024, hearing, and after the Parties filed proposed orders, the Court granted the LLC's motion regarding the threshold to change the LLC's Operating Agreement and Cameron's motion regarding the perpetual term, and it denied Plaintiffs' summary judgment motion related to those issues. Appx. Ex. B, Doc. 107.

Separately, while the Parties were briefing those motions, Kim Bennett ("Bennett"), a non-party individual whom the Parties had hired years ago to appraise the LLC, filed an appearance to request compensation for her professional fees and attorney's fees related to Plaintiffs' having deposed her during the litigation, after Defendant LLC and Cameron had disclosed her as a hybrid witness. (Docs. 92-93.) Both Defendant LLC and Lindsay responded to Bennett's requests, Docs. 94 and 96, but the Court granted Bennett's request for fees in the amount of \$4,410. Appx. Ex. H, Doc. 102.

After these Orders, Defendants LLC and Cameron filed memoranda of costs (Docs. 108 and 111) and motions for fees and costs (Docs. 109-110, 111). Plaintiffs filed objections and oppositions (Docs. 113-114, 118-119), but the Court awarded costs to Cameron (Appx. Ex. C, Doc. 116), costs to Defendant LLC (Appx. Ex. D, Doc. 121), fees to Defendant LLC (Appx. Ex. E, Doc. 122), and fees to Cameron (Appx. Ex. F, Doc. 123). After negotiations, and while reserving the right to appeal the awards of fees and costs, Plaintiffs stipulated to the amount of such fees and

costs. The Parties filed a Stipulation (Doc. 132), and the Court entered judgment on January 20, 2025. Appx. Ex. A, Doc. 133. The Parties also agreed on terms to stay judgment pending appeal, which was granted by the Court, *see* Doc. 139, and Plaintiffs filed this appeal on February 20, 2025.

### C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### I. LLC's Creation in 1994.

The LLC was founded in 1994 by Horatio, Lindsay, Cameron, and Lindsay and Cameron's brother Seth S. Burns ("Seth") (collectively, the "founding members"), with a 30-year term set to expire on December 31, 2024. *See* Supplemental Appendix ("SA") Ex. A; *see also* Appx. Ex. B at 2. The LLC was created as part of the estate planning efforts of Lindsay and Cameron's grandfather, Robert Burns. (*See* Doc. 29 at ¶ 9; Doc. 31 at ¶ 9.)

When the LLC was established, its founding members each owned 25% of the Company, and they entered into written contracts to govern the LLC's business—specifically the Articles and an Operating Agreement. (*See* Doc. 29 at ¶ 2; Doc. 31 at ¶ 2; Doc. 36 at ¶ 2.) In its Articles, the LLC was designated as a term company, specifying that "[t]he latest date upon which the limited liability company is to dissolve is December 31, 2024." (SA Ex. A at Art. II; *see also* Doc. 107 at 2, ¶ 1.)

## II. 2004 Changes to the Company.

The Members adopted the current Operating Agreement (or “OA”) on January 17, 2004 (SA Ex. B; *see also* Doc. 107 at 2, ¶ 3.)<sup>1</sup> Like the Articles, the OA states that the LLC “is a term company and the latest date upon which the [LLC] is to dissolve is December 31, 2024.” *Id.* at § 1.d. Further, Section 13.j. of the OA provides that: the “Members may amend this Agreement and Exhibit A [initial capital contributions] upon execution of a written amendment **signed by all of the Members.**” *Id.* at § 13.j. (emphasis added).

The LLC’s attorney at the time, Angus Fulton, drafted the OA. (SA Ex. C at 19:12-20.) Fulton provided his first draft of a new, amended operating agreement to the LLC’s Members in February 2002. (*See* SA Ex. C at 21:15-24; Ex. 2 to SA Ex. D.) According to his cover letter, Fulton recommended amending the original Operating Agreement to reflect recent changes to Montana’s LLC statutes. (*See* Ex. 2 to SA Ex. D at ¶ 1.) The Legislature had amended those statutes in 1999 to comprehensively adopt the Uniform LLC Act. *See* 1999 Montana Laws Ch. 302 (S.B. 435). Fulton explained that the amendments allowed for greater restrictions to be placed on LLC ownership interests, and, considering the LLC’s estate planning purpose, that would provide a greater reduction in the value of an LLC interest for

---

<sup>1</sup> The 2004 Agreement voided and replaced the original agreement dated February 28, 1994. (*See* Doc. 74, Ex. B at § 1.g.)

federal estate tax purposes. (*See* Ex. 2 to SA Ex. D at ¶ 1; *see also* SA Ex. C at 20:2-17.) Fulton also emphasized the importance of the Company’s limited term duration as part of the equation to lower the value of any owner’s interest. (*See* Ex. 2 to SA Ex. D at ¶ 1.C.)

Importantly, the 1999 amendments to the LLC Act also newly allowed for perpetual terms for LLCs in Montana.<sup>2</sup> *See* 1999 Montana Laws Ch. 302 (S.B. 435); Mont. Code Ann. § 35-8-202(1)(b). However, the 2004 OA adopted by the LLC Members *nonetheless maintained* the Company’s term and the December 31, 2024, dissolution date. (*See* SA Ex. B at § 1.d.)

More importantly, after Fulton provided the final draft of the new OA to the Members in early 2004, he informed Cameron via email that both the original agreement and new OA required unanimous, written approval from all the Members before any changes to the OA could become effective. (*See* Ex. 3 to SA Ex. D, p. 1; *see also* Ex. 1 to SA Ex. D, at § 12.4). Lindsay was copied on the final email in the discussion, so she also received Fulton’s email regarding the need for all the Members to approve an amendment to the OA. (SA Ex. D, ¶¶ 5-6.)

---

<sup>2</sup> When the Legislature first adopted the statutory framework in 1993, there was no allowance for perpetual LLCs—all LLCs were required to set a specific term. *See* 1993 Montana Laws Ch. 120, § 9 (S.B. 146).

### III. 2015-2016 Actions.

In the summer of 2015, Seth decided to withdraw and dissociate from the LLC, and he provided his written notice to do so. (SA Ex. E at 25:2-13.) Prior to Seth's withdrawal notice, the respective ownership percentages of LLC Members were as follows: Horatio—28.58%; Cameron—28.57%; Lindsay—10.10%; Solange—7.08%; B.B.—7.08%; and Seth—18.59%. (SA Ex. D, ¶ 8; SA Ex. E, 47:20-48:19.)

Following Seth's withdrawal notice, the remaining Members elected to continue the Company's business and have the Company purchase Seth's interest pursuant to OA Sections 10 and 11. (*See* SA Ex. E, 26:24-27:25; SA Ex. D, ¶ 9.) Seth and the remaining Members then needed to determine a purchase price for Seth's interest and complete the purchase of his units. (*See* SA Ex. E, 33:2-35:25; SA Ex. D, ¶ 9.) However, that process lasted through the fall and into February 2016 before the purchase of Seth's interest was completed. (*See* SA Ex. F at RFA No. 104; SA Ex. D at ¶ 9.) The closing date for the LLC's redemption of Seth's interest did not occur until February 1, 2016, when Seth delivered an Assignment of Membership Interest to the Company. (Ex. 5 to SA Ex. D.)

While Seth's purchase transaction was being negotiated in the fall of 2015, and Horatio's will was being revised, Cameron and Horatio proposed to amend the LLC's original Articles of Organization to replace the 2024 dissolution date with a

perpetual term. (SA Ex. C, 55:25-56:15; SA Ex. D, ¶ 11.) According to the OA, the Articles may be amended with the approval of Members owning at least 67% Ownership Percentages. (See SA Ex. B, § 6.k.iii.) Over Lindsay’s objection, which she clarified was not an objection to perpetuity for the Ranch but for the then-operative ownership structure, Cameron and Horatio, who claimed to represent a combined 70% of the LLC, voted in favor of such amendment on November 14, 2015. (SA Ex. C, 55:25-58:12; SA Ex. D, ¶ 11.) After the vote, the LLC’s then-attorney Jennifer Farve, filed Articles of Amendment reflecting the perpetual vote with the Secretary of State on November 17, 2015, which certified the filing that day. (SA Ex. D, ¶ 12; Ex. 7 to SA Ex. D.)

The LLC members, however, failed to likewise amend the OA’s term provision, which still provides that the Company shall dissolve on or before December 31, 2024. (See SA Ex. C, 69:7-70:1; SA Ex. F at RFA Nos. 34-35; see also SA Ex. B, § 1.d.) In an email exchange following the filing of the Articles of Amendment, Ms. Farve confirmed that the OA was not amended by the November 2015 vote. (See SA Ex. D at ¶ 13; Ex. 8 to SA Ex. D, at BARBIER 1755-1756.) Ms. Farve explained that the vote to amend the Articles was conducted pursuant to Section 6.k. of the OA, which requires approval by at least 67% of the LLC’s ownership percentages. (*Id.*) Notably, she then went on to say that “Section 13(j) relates to amending the Operating Agreement and Exhibit A. It states that the

Agreement may be amended by a written amendment signed by all of the Members.”

(*Id.*)

#### **IV. Events from 2018 through the Present.**

Following Horatio’s death in August 2018 and the distribution of his LLC ownership to Cameron (and considering several other small transfers amongst family since 2004), Cameron now owns 70.19% of the Company. (*See* Doc. 29 at ¶ 5; Doc. 31 at ¶ 5; Doc. 36 at ¶ 5; SA Ex. F at RFA No. 19.) Lindsay currently holds 12.41%, while her children, Solange and B.B., each own 8.7%, for a total of 29.81% interest that the Barbiers own. (*See* SA Ex. F at RFA Nos. 9-14.) There are no other current members, owners, officers, or directors of the LLC, such that all LLC members are also Parties in this litigation.

Considering that the Barbiers have alleged that the value of their interests in the Ranch was significantly reduced by the change to a perpetual term, *see* Doc. 29, ¶¶ 25-26, they retained and disclosed James P. Winchell as an expert witness in the areas of accounting, corporate/LLC, and ranch entity valuations on January 13, 2023. (*See* SA Ex. H, 1-2.) In addition to Mr. Winchell, out of an abundance of caution, Plaintiffs also listed Kim Colvin Bennett as both a fact witness and potential “hybrid expert” witness, as she was an appraiser that had provided services for the LLC on multiple occasions in the past relating to property valuations. (*See* SA Ex. H, 2-3; *see also* SA Ex. G at 11:5-12:9.)

As this litigation progressed, both Cameron and Defendant LLC also disclosed Bennett as a potential hybrid expert witness, including as someone who may provide testimony to rebut the testimony and opinions of the Barbiers' experts. *See SA Ex. I at 1-2; SA Ex. J at 2-3.*) Cameron's Disclosure specifically stated that "Ms. Bennett may provide testimony to rebut the expert testimony presented by Jim Winchell." (SA Ex. I at 2.)

Based on Cameron's and Defendant LLC's rebuttal designations, the Barbiers felt compelled to arrange for and conduct a deposition of Bennett to establish in advance of trial whether she would, in fact, be offering testimony and opinions that were contrary to those of the Barbiers' retained expert, Mr. Winchell. (*See e.g.*, SA Ex. G at 8:12-22, 86:7-88:14.) To that end, in May 2024, Appellants' counsel contacted Steve Woodruff, an attorney who had represented Bennett previously, to request that Bennett appear for a deposition in this case. SA Ex. K at 3-4.) In her email, Barbiers' counsel explained the basis for requesting the deposition and asked for dates when Bennett would be available. (*See id.*) Barbiers' counsel then selected a date that worked for Bennett and arranged for the deposition to be taken in Big Timber, which was Bennett's preferred location. (*See id.*, 1-3.) The Barbiers' counsel also answered questions from Bennett's attorney regarding the planned scope of the deposition and clarified that Plaintiffs were not retaining Bennett as an expert. (*See id.*, at 5-8.) On June 7, 2024, Plaintiffs served a Deposition Subpoena

on Bennett's attorney, along with a \$10.00 check for the statutorily required witness fee, and issued a deposition notice to opposing counsel. The Deposition Subpoena included the mandatory language from Mont. R. Civ. P. 45(d) and (e) regarding the protections available to a person subject to a subpoena, including for quashing or modifying a subpoena. (*See* SA Ex. L at 5-7.)

Critically, at no point during the planning process for her deposition did Bennett or her attorney request or demand compensation beyond the standard witness fee for her appearance and testimony. (*See generally* SA Ex. K.) Nor did Bennett file a motion to quash or modify the deposition subpoena.

Accordingly, the parties conducted Bennett's deposition as scheduled on June 27, 2024, in Big Timber, Montana, where she appeared with her attorney Woodruff. (*See* SA Ex. G.) Bennett's deposition lasted less than three hours, which included occasional breaks. (*See id.* at 2:1-10, 119:2-3.) During that time, Bennett primarily testified about the appraisal and valuation services she had previously provided to the LLC and its members. (*See id.*, 25:18-40:3, 43:17-62:7, 77:22-80:25.) She also answered questions relating to the expert disclosures made in this case, specifically including the report by the Barbiers' retained expert, Mr. Winchell. (*See id.*, 82:21-110:5.) Bennett's testimony was confrontational at times, especially in relation to her being identified as a hybrid fact/expert witness by the Parties. (*See id.*, 7:7-16:11.)

Almost immediately following the deposition, attorney Woodruff emailed the Barbiers' counsel about compensating Bennett for attending the deposition, as well as for her related attorney fees. (SA Ex. M.) After Woodruff clarified the amount of compensation and fees that Bennett was requesting, Barbiers' counsel declined her request and explained their reasoning. (SA Ex. N at 1-3.) In response, Bennett then filed her request for fees on September 5, 2024, Doc. 92-93, and the District Court awarded those fees in the amount of \$4,410.

#### **D. STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

Two different standards of review apply to the different issues raised in this appeal, with both standards applying to the third issue.

First, this Court reviews “a district court’s ruling on summary judgment de novo, to determine whether it is correct, using the same standards as the district court under M. R. Civ. P. 56.” *Depositors Ins. Co. v. Sandidge*, 2022 MT 33, ¶ 5, 407 Mont. 385, 504 P.3d 477 (quoting *Warrington v. Great Falls Clinic, LLP*, 2019 MT 111, ¶ 8, 395 Mont. 432, 443 P.3d 369).

Second, a district court’s ruling on joinder of other Parties is reviewed for abuse of discretion, which is based upon “[t]he facts and circumstances of each case.” *John Alexander Ethen Trust Agreement v. River Res. Outfitters, LLC*, 2011 MT 143, ¶ 49, 361 Mont. 57, 256 P.3d 913. “An abuse of discretion occurs when the district court acts arbitrarily without the employment of conscientious judgment

or exceeds the bounds of reason, in view of all the circumstances, ignoring recognized principles resulting in substantial injustice.” *Rysewyk v. Mont. Opticom, LLC*, 2023 MT 111, ¶ 15, 412 Mont. 420, 530 P.3d 839 (citing *Schuff v. A.T. Klemens & Son*, 2000 MT 357, ¶ 27, 303 Mont. 274, 16 P.3d 1002).

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