IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Cause No. DA 25-0149

LINDSAY BURNS BARBIER, individually, and on behalf of the H.W. BURNS FAMILY, LLC, S.B.; and B.B.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

CAMERON H. BURNS; and H.W. BURNS FAMILY, LLC, a nominal Defendant,

Defendants and Appellees.

On Appeal from Montana Sixth Judicial District Court, Sweet Grass County, Cause No. DV 21-49 Hon. Brenda R. Gilbert, District Court Judge

APPELLEE CAMERON H. BURNS' ANSWER BRIEF

APPEARANCES:

J. Devlan Geddes GOETZ, GEDDES & GARDNER, P.C.

35 North Grand Ave.

P.O. Box 6580

Bozeman, MT 59771-6580

Ph: 406-587-0618 Fax: 406-587-5144

Email: devlan@goetzlawfirm.com

Margaret C. Weamer Amy C. McNulty

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

refusing to allow Lindsay to factual assertions after the failed Will Contest Action.

2. Seth lost his voting rights when he announced his withdrawal from the LLC.

When Seth provided his July 16, 2015, written notice of his intent to withdraw he ceased being a member of the LLC. Operating Agreement, Section 9.a.i (Supp. Appx. 69); Mont. Code Ann. § 35-8-803. Even Lindsay conceded: "Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, Seth dissociated from the LLC and ceased to be a "Member" upon the delivery of his withdrawal notice." Dkt. 74, p. 18 (emphasis added). Upon Seth's notice of dissociation, his right to participate in the management of the LLC ended. Mont. Code Ann. § 35-8-805(2). That is the end of the analysis.

Nonetheless, Lindsay relies on Seth being "treated the same as a transferee of a member" under Mont. Code Ann. § 35-8-805(2) after his dissociation to claim Horatio and Cameron did not control at least 67% of the ownership interest.

Opening Br., p. 31. While Seth certainly retained a distributional interest in the LLC after his dissociation, Lindsay is wrong about the impact of Seth's distributional interest on the subsequent vote to convert the LLC to a perpetual company. Both the Operating Agreement and Act are clear — Seth's distributional interest had zero bearing on calculating subsequent votes by the LLC's members, including the vote to convert the LLC to a perpetual company.

First, the Operating Agreement defines the term "Member" as "a person who has ... not dissociated from the Company." Operating Agreement, Section 2.e. (Supp. Appx. 60) (emphasis added). Likewise, a person who is not a Member cannot have any "Ownership Percentage." Operating Agreement, Section 2.i. (Supp. Appx. 60) ("'Ownership Percentage' shall mean a Member's designated share of the profits, losses and distributions of the Company...." (emphasis added). Since Seth "ceased to be a 'Member,'" as Lindsay admits, it was impossible for him to possess any Ownership Percentage.

Second, the Act provides distributional owners are not entitled to exercise any rights as a member. Mont. Code Ann. § 35-8-707.

Put simply, Seth was no longer a member of the LLC after he submitted written notice of his intent to withdraw from the LLC and, under both the Operating Agreement and the Act, he could not vote his discontinued interest in the company. Therefore, it is undisputed that Horatio and Cameron controlled the requisite Ownership Percentage to vote to convert the LLC to a perpetual entity.

B. The November 14, 2015, vote "extend[ed] the life of the LLC from 2024 to perpetual with no expiration."

Lindsay claims the November 14, 2015, vote did not amend the Operating

Agreement and, therefore, the LLC expired on December 31, 2024. She claims the

2015 vote only approved of an amendment of the Articles of Organization, not the

Operating Agreement. Opening Br., pp. 28–29. This argument belies the language of Horatio's motion and the supermajority vote.

On November 14, 2015:

A motion was made by Horatio to extend the life of The LLC from 2024 to perpetual with no expiration. Cameron seconded. Horatio voted Yes. Cameron voted Yes. Lindsay voted No.

Supp. Appx. 83. There was no limiting condition placed on the vote and the intent of the vote was unequivocal — converting the LLC from a term to a perpetual company.

It is inexplicable for Lindsay to argue the motion and vote to "extend the life of the LLC from 2024 to perpetual with no expiration" somehow authorized the filing of amended Articles of Organization but did not amend the Operating Agreement at the same time.

IV. The District Court correctly required Lindsay to join the LLC as a Defendant.

Lindsay's lawsuit had one purpose — ending the LLC. If successful, Lindsay wanted to force dissolution and distribution or sale of the LLC's assets.

Lindsay claims the LLC was not an indispensable party because she alleged derivative claims "on behalf of" the LLC. She is wrong. The District Court correctly rejected her fox guarding the henhouse argument by requiring Lindsay to join the LLC as a defendant under M. R. Civ. P. 19.

A. The LLC was an indispensable party.

Lindsay's appeal presents a straightforward issue based on black-letter law. Ross v. Bernhard, 396 U.S. 531, 538, 90 S.Ct. 733 (1970). "It is well established that an entity on whose behalf a derivative suit is asserted is a necessary defendant in the derivative action." Buckley v. Control Data Corp., 923 F.2d 96, 98 (8th Cir. 1991) (citing 3B Moore's Federal Practice, ¶ 23.1.21[1] at 23.1-100 (1987) (the corporation, in a derivative suit, "must be made a defendant, since it is indispensable"); Liddy v. Urbanek, 707 F.2d 1222, 1224 (11th Cir. 1983) ("There is no question that a corporation is an indispensable party in a derivative action brought by one of its shareholders."); Koster v. Lumbermens Mut. Cas. Co., 330 U.S. 518, 522-23 & n. 2, 67 S.Ct. 828 (1947) (holding a corporation is a necessary party in a derivative suit). "Characterizing a cause of action as derivative has consequences. 'Pertinently, it means that the corporation is an indispensable party within the meaning of Fed.R.Civ.P. 19 (which requires the joinder of parties 'needed for just adjudication')". TC Investments Corp. v. Becker, 733 F.Supp.2d 266, 283 (D. PR. 2010) (citing Gabriel v. Preble, 396 F.3d 10, 13 (1st Cir. 2005)); see also Tuscano v. Tuscano, 403 F.Supp.2d 214, 225 (E.D.NY. 2005) ("It is well settled that a shareholder derivative action brought pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 23.1 cannot proceed in the absence of the corporations whose rights are being asserted.");

Buckley, 923 F.2d at 98.

More than a century ago, the United States Supreme Court held that when the corporation is adverse to a derivative suit, the corporation must be a party defendant. *Doctor v. Harrington*, 196 U.S. 579, 587, 25 S.Ct. 355 (1905). "A corporation is deemed adverse to a derivative suit when, regardless of the reason, the corporation's management opposes the maintenance of the action." *Gabriel*, 396 F.3d at 14 (citing *Smith v. Sperling*, 354 U.S. 91, 96-97, 77 S.Ct. 1112 (1957); *see also Swanson v. Traer*, 354 U.S. 114, 116, 77 S.Ct. 1116 (1957) (corporation should be defendant when its management is definitely opposed to litigation); *Bagdon v. Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc.*, 916 F.2d 379, 382 (7th Cir. 1990) (corporation's opposition to derivative suit required that it be aligned as defendant).

The United States Supreme Court has admonished courts to determine whether the corporation is adverse from the face of the pleadings. *Gabriel*, 396 F.3d at 15 (citing *Sperling*, 354 U.S. at 95-97, 77 S.Ct. 1112). In this case, Lindsay specifically alleged she had standing to bring a derivative suit because the Company was adverse to her claim. FAC, ¶ 31 (alleging the LLC has no interest in correcting the alleged breach or in bringing an action against Cameron to enforce its term). Accordingly, the LLC was required to be a defendant.

Lindsay attempts to avoid clear application of governing precedent by

contending Cameron did not cite any Montana authority below for the proposition that a corporation should be aligned as a defendant in a derivative suit. Opening Br., pp. 36–37. That is only because no Montana case had addressed this specific issue. Nevertheless, "Montana's Rule 19 is modeled on Rule 19 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, thus, we look to interpretation of the Federal Rules for guidance." *Mohl v. Johnson*, 275 Mont. 167, 171, 911 P.2d 217, 220 (1996).

Lindsay's claim that the authority cited by Cameron below was "outdated" is specious. Opening Br., p. 37. She cannot avoid more than 100 years of governing precedent by claiming that precedent is now too old. Lindsay does not claim those cases were overruled and does not present any valid legal authority to the Court which would allow it to depart from the well-established principle "an entity on whose behalf a derivative suit is asserted is a necessary defendant in the derivative action." *Buckley*, 923 F.2d at 98.

B. Cameron's motion to require joinder of the LLC was timely.

Lindsay's claim that Cameron's motion was untimely is misplaced. Cameron could have waited until trial and then moved to dismiss based on Lindsay's failure to join the LLC as a defendant. M. R. Civ. P. 12(h)(2). Instead, Cameron sought to correct a problem created by Lindsay so the case could proceed efficiently in accordance with well-established law. *Ross*, 396 U.S. at 538.

The "absence of an indispensable party is considered to be so significant a defect that most courts have indicated that it may be raised for the first time subsequent to the trial and on appeal." *Bartfield v. Murphy*, 578 F.Supp.2d 638, 645 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (quoting Wright and Miller, 7 Fed.Prac.Proc.Civ. § 1609 (3d ed.2008). "Further, 'the issue of indispensability is one that courts have an independent duty to consider *sua sponte*, if there is reason to believe dismissal on such grounds may be warranted." *Bartfield*, 578 F.Supp.2d at 645 (quoting *Citizens Against Casino Gambling in Erie County v. Kempthorne*, 471 F.Supp.2d 295, 312 (W.D.N.Y. 2007).

Rule 19(a)(2), M. R. Civ. P., provides that if "a person has not been joined as required, the court must order that the person be made a party." "If the court finds an absentee is needed for a just adjudication (that is, a necessary or 'required' party), and if the court finds that joinder of the absentee is feasible, it will usually give the plaintiff an opportunity to add the absentee. If the plaintiff fails to do so, the court may dismiss the action because of plaintiff's non-compliance." 8

Moore's Federal Practice, § 19.04[4][a] (2025).

Finally, Lindsay's complaints about timeliness are unfounded as the parties put this case on hold while the Will Contest Action was pending. Dkts. 6, 11, 21.

V. The Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Lindsay's appeal of the District Court's award of professional and attorneys' fees because Lindsay failed to provide notice to Dr. Bennett.

The District Court ordered Lindsay to pay \$4,410.00 in professional and attorneys' fees to Kim Bennett, a disclosed hybrid expert witness, for the burden of being deposed. *Order Imposing Fees for Deposition of Kim* Bennett (Dkt. 102) (Appx. 28–30). Lindsay purports to appeal this award in her *Notice of Appeal* and *Opening Brief*. However, the certificates of service for both her *Notice of Appeal* and *Opening Brief* omit Dr. Bennett and her attorney, thus depriving Dr. Bennett the opportunity to participate and defend her interest in the award.

Notices of appeal are jurisdictional. *W. Holding*, 113 Mont. 24, 37, 120 P.2d 557, 563 (1941); *Joseph Eve*, 284 Mont. 511, 514, 945 P.2d 897, 899. This Court does not acquire jurisdiction of an appeal if notice is not appropriately given. *W. Holding*, 113 Mont. at 37, 120 P.2d at 563. Specifically, "[t]he notice must be served upon the adverse party which means all parties to the action who may be adversely affected by a reversal or modification of the judgment from which the appeal is taken. *Id.* (citations omitted).

An appellate has a duty to perfect her appeal. *Joseph*, 284 Mont. at 514, 945 P.2d at 899; *In re Malick's Estate*, 124 Mont. 585, 589, 228 P.2d 963, 965 (1951) (citations omitted). "Absent such compliance, this Court lacks jurisdiction to hear

the appeal." *Joseph*, 284 Mont. at 514, 945 P.2d at 899; *Seiffert v. Police Comm'n*, 144 Mont. 52, 55, 3694 P.2d 172 (1964); *McLeod v. McLeod*, 124 Mont. 590, 593, 228 P.2d 965, 968 (1951). Because Lindsay failed to serve her *Notice of Appeal* (or her *Opening Brief*) on Dr. Bennett, this Court is without jurisdiction to entertain Lindsay's appeal on this issue, and it must be dismissed.

VI. The District Court did not abuse its discretion by awarding professional and attorneys' fees to a third-party witness.

Rule 45(d)(3)(C)(ii), M. R. Civ. P., authorizes district courts, in their discretion, to condition a third-party subpoena on reimbursement to the deponent for time and expenses. Such discretionary rulings under M. R. Civ. P. 45 are reviewed for abuse of that discretion. *In re Parenting of F.L.F.L.K.*, ¶ 17; *In re Conservatorship of H.D.K.*, ¶ 31. "The abuse of discretion question is not whether this Court would have reached the same decision, but, whether the district court acted arbitrarily without conscientious judgment or exceeded the bounds of reason." *Chipman v. Northwest Healthcare Corp.*, 2012 MT 242, ¶ 17, 366 Mont. 450, 288 P.3d 193 (citations and quotations omitted). Here, even if the issue of the award of fees to Dr. Bennett was properly appealed, Lindsay fails to demonstrate that the District Court abused its discretion.

First, Lindsay asserts Dr. Bennett's request for reimbursement was untimely as Mont. R. Civ. P. 45 required her to file a motion <u>before</u> attending the deposition

Id. The District Court disposed of Lindsay's timeliness objection because the time between service of the subpoena and the deposition did not allow for full briefing under the applicable rules, and the attorney serving the subpoena had a duty to take reasonable steps to avoid undue burden or expense on Dr. Bennett. Appx., p. 2. This duty, the court noted, was entirely apart from the rules concerning motions to quash or modify and was not time-bound. Id. Lindsay's Opening Brief provides no analysis or rebuttal to the District Court's reasoning, and the Court may affirm on these unchallenged grounds alone.

Lindsay also argues, to merit compensation, the subpoena must have required disclosing the unretained expert's opinion aside from "specific occurrences in dispute[.]" Opening Br., pp. 40–41. But Lindsay misreads the Rule. Entitlement to additional compensation is not defeated if the deponent gives *any* fact testimony. The language of the Rule enables awarding additional compensation to the deponent who must disclose *any* opinion or information that does not describe specific occurrences in dispute and results from the expert's unsolicited study. M. R. Civ. P. 45(d)(3)(B)(ii). In other words, it is only the opinion evidence that must be free from fact testimony within the deponent's knowledge; if one nonfactual expert opinion is provided, the deponent may be entitled to compensation.

Below, Dr. Bennett was asked (and provided extensive expert testimony) about documents and hypotheticals to which she did not have factual knowledge. *See generally* Dkt. 96, Exhibit A, pp. 27–31 (general processes for appraising a fractional interest), 40–42, 46–49, 56, 62–64 (valuation of present-day value of real estate), 66–67 (reviewing documents she did not produce), 68–69 (general appraisal data for other real estate). She was also asked about her opinions regarding Lindsay's disclosed expert report and the current value of the members' LLC interests. *Id.*, pp. 87–100, 108–111. These questions pertained to opinions resulting from Dr. Bennett's unsolicited study of the market conditions, as well as documents newly introduced to Dr. Bennett.

The District Court's discretionary determination that the subpoena and the topics of the deposition caused Dr. Bennett to incur costs beyond that of a normal fact witness was not without conscientious judgment, and did not exceed the bounds of reason. *Chipman*, ¶ 17. This Court should affirm the District Court's award of professional and attorneys' fees to Dr. Bennett.

CONCLUSION

The District Court correctly interpreted and applied the Operating

Agreement when it determined, based on the unambiguous Operating Agreement

and undisputed facts, the LLC was converted to a perpetual entity on November

14, 2015. Likewise, the District Court did not abuse its discretion by requiring Lindsay to join the LLC as a defendant. Finally, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Lindsay's appeal of the District Court's award of professional and attorneys' fees to Dr. Bennett and, even if it does have jurisdiction, the District Court did not abuse its discretion.